

Living Arrangements of People with Alzheimer's Disease and Related Dementias: Implications for Services and Supports

Issue Brief

October 2017

Prepared by: Michael Lepore, PhD Abby Ferrell, BA Joshua M. Wiener, PhD

Additional information can be found at the Summit website (<u>https://aspe.hhs.gov/national-research-summit-care-services-and-supports-persons-dementia-and-their-caregivers</u>) or the National Alzheimer's Project Act website (<u>https://aspe.hhs.gov/national-alzheimers-project-act</u>). The opinions and views expressed in this report are those of the authors. They do not necessarily reflect the views of HHS, the contractor or any other funding organization.

Living Arrangements of People with Alzheimer's Disease and Related Dementias: Implications for Services and Supports

Issue Brief

Research Summit on Dementia Care: Building Evidence for Services and Supports

Prepared for

Rohini Khillan, MPH Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation Disability, Aging, and Long-Term Care Policy 200 Independence Avenue, SW Washington, DC 20201

Prepared by

Michael Lepore, PhD Abby Ferrell, BA Joshua M. Wiener, PhD RTI International 701 13th Street, NW Suite 750 Washington, DC 20005

RTI Project Number 0215288.002.000.001

Contents

ction	Page
Introduction	1
Home-Based Living Arrangements for PWD	1
Long-Term Services and Supports Use in Home-Based Settings	
Quality of Care in Home-Based Settings	
Hospitalizations and Emergency Department Use in Home-Based Settings	4
Costs in Home-Based Settings	
End-of-Life Care in Home-Based Settings	
Congregate Community-Based Living Arrangements for PWD	5
Financing in RCSs	6
Quality in RCSs	6
Hospitalizations and ED Use in RCSs	6
Costs in RCSs	7
End-of-Life Care in RCSs	7
Nursing Homes	7
Special Care Units in Nursing Homes	
Quality of Care in Nursing Homes	9
Hospitalizations and ED Use among Nursing Home Residents	9
Costs	
End-of-Life Care	
Other Living Arrangements	11
Veteran-Centered Settings	
Unlicensed Care Homes.	
Prisons	
Homelessness	
Conclusion	
References	14

Tables

Numb	er	Page
1	Estimated Distribution of People with Dementia by Living Arrangement, 2017	1

Introduction

People with Alzheimer's disease and other dementias (PWD) live in various settings that affect the quality of their lives and their health and well-being. This issue brief provides an overview of where PWD live and reviews use of services, quality of care, hospital and emergency department (ED) use, costs of care for PWD, and end-of-life care in various living arrangements. The issue brief concludes with some possible research agendas.

In 2017, there were an estimated 5.5 million PWD in the United States (Alzheimer's Association, 2017). As shown in *Table 1*, PWD live at home, with caregivers and alone; in residential care settings (RCSs) such as assisted living; and in nursing homes. In addition, PWD live in veteran-specific settings such as State Veteran Homes, prisons, mental hospitals, and unlicensed care homes. Most people with dementia live in the community, but nearly a fifth live in either RCSs or nursing homes. Of people living in the community, most live with others, but a significant portion live alone—indeed, more than the total PWD who live in RCSs or nursing homes.

Prevalence	Total living in the community	Living in the community with others	Living alone in the community	Living in residential care settings	Living in nursing homes	Total
Estimated number of people with dementia (thousands)	4,479	3,135	1,344	331	690	5,500
Percent of people with dementia	81	57	24	6	13	100

Table 1. Estimated Distribution of People with Dementia by Living Arrangement, 2017

Source: Authors' estimates based on Alzheimer's Association, 2017; Harris-Kojetin et al., 2016; and Okura et al., 2011. People living in the community were calculated by subtracting number of people living in RCSs and nursing homes. People living alone were calculated as 30 percent of people living in the community.

Home-Based Living Arrangements for PWD

Home-based living arrangements for PWD include single-family homes, apartments, and other private residences (e.g., condominiums, mobile homes). The majority of PWD, like most older people, live in their own homes. Although estimates vary, the National Health and Aging Trends Study (NHATS) data indicate that 9.7 percent of the U.S. population age 65 and older who were not in nursing homes had probable dementia in 2011 (Kasper, Freedman & Spillman, 2014).

Most PWD who live at home reside with others, typically spouses or other family members.

- People with dementia generally need more support from their caregivers than those with other illnesses (Pinquart & Sorensen, 2003; Spector & Kemper, 1994). In addition to arranging health care visits, participating in medical decision making, and coordinating support services, caregivers of people with dementia must take steps to keep the person safe and to address the behavioral and psychological symptoms experienced by 80–90 percent of people with dementia (Black et al., 2013; Lyketsos et al., 2002). Dementia caregivers also experience challenges in performing nursing tasks and helping the person with dementia with activities of daily living, such as eating, bathing, and meal preparation (National Alliance for Caregiving [NAC]/ [AARP], 2015).
- The overwhelming majority of help provided to people with dementia comes from family members, friends, or other unpaid caregivers (Schulz & Martire, 2004). Data from NHATS suggest that of the approximately 7.7 million older adults who received care from unpaid caregivers in 2011, 45.5 percent (approximately 3.5 million) were people with Alzheimer's disease and other dementias) (Wolff, Spillman, Freedman, & Kasper, 2016).
- More than half of dementia caregivers provide more than 21 hours of care per week (NAC/AARP, 2015). About two-thirds of caregivers are women (Kasper, Freedman, & Spillman, 2014). The same study reports that about one-third of dementia caregivers are 65 or older, about two-thirds live with the person with dementia, and one-quarter are "sandwich" caregivers who take care of both a parent and children under 18 (Alzheimer's Association, 2014). Current trends toward smaller families, more divorce, and more geographic dispersion mean that the number of available family caregivers is expected to decrease over time, while the number of people with dementia is increasing (Roth, Fredman, & Haley, 2015).
- Caring for someone with dementia appears to create a greater burden than caring for persons with other illnesses—for example, rates of depression are twice as high among caregivers of people with dementia as they are for other caregivers (Black et al., 2013; Family Caregiver Alliance, 2016). Caregivers' physical health is often affected as well, with higher medical costs, more doctor visits, and greater medication use (Zhu et al., 2015).
- The financial impact of caregiving can also be significant. The 2014 Alzheimer's Association survey found that 15 percent of caregivers had to take a leave of absence from their jobs, 13 percent went from full-time to part-time work, and 9 percent had to quit their jobs. The same survey found that many caregivers reduced the amount of money they saved, used money from their own retirement accounts, and decreased spending on their children's education to fund care for the person with dementia (Alzheimer's Association, 2014).
- Just as the needs of the person with dementia affect the caregiver, caregiver wellbeing also affects the care recipient. Lack of caregiver coping skills may result in more behavioral symptoms in the person with dementia, including increased irritability, agitation, and wandering. When the caregiver is angry or frustrated, the person with dementia is more likely to become similarly upset (Yuhas et al., 2006).

Caregiver depression is also associated with more behavioral symptoms in the person with dementia (Mausbach et al., 2006) and is a major predictor of institutionalization (Karon, Gould, Hughes, Piersol, Maier, Leopold & Wiener, 2015). Finally, the support that caregivers receive can directly affect their ability to help follow doctors' recommended care plans and to ensure the safety of the person with dementia (Black et al., 2013; Family Caregivers Alliance, 2006).

Despite the needs of PWD for supervision to ensure safety, national and regional data indicate that between about 25 and 30 percent of PWD in the community live alone (Gould et al., 2015; Alzheimer's Association, 2012; Okura et al., 2011; NAC/AARP, 2010). Likewise, a 2009 telephone survey of a nationally representative sample of Americans aged 18 and older who identified themselves as family caregivers showed that 28 percent of caregivers of community-dwelling people with dementia said the care recipient was living alone (NAC/AARP, 2010). If there is no one else living in the home who can observe changes in the individual's cognitive and functional abilities, the progressive decline associated with AD and other dementias may go unnoticed until an emergency occurs.

Long-Term Services and Supports Use in Home-Based Settings

PWD in home-based living arrangements have substantial unmet needs for care and services to help them cope with their cognitive impairment.

- In a cross-sectional study of 88 PWD who lived at home, most PWD had high fall risk, unmanaged behavioral symptoms, pain, sleep disturbances, environmental challenges, and multiple hazards (Gitlin, Hodgson, Piersol, Hess, & Hauck, 2014).
- In a study of 254 PWD who lived at home and had regularly engaged informal caregivers, 99 percent of PWD had one or more unmet needs and 42 percent had eight or more unmet needs; unmet needs in the domain of safety were most common (experienced by more than 90 percent of PWD), and unmet needs in the domains of general health and medical care were experienced by more than 60 percent of participants (Black et al., 2013).

Among both PWD who live alone and those who live with others, some people use paid care; however, most rely on unpaid family caregivers and do not use services, in part because they are expensive if the PWD is not eligible for Medicaid.

- Home health agencies and adult day service centers are used by many PWD. Approximately 31.4 percent of Medicare home health agency patients are PWD, as are 29.9 percent of adult day service center clients (Harris-Kojetin, Sengupta, & Park-Lee, 2016).
- Little is known about what proportion of PWD receive home and community-based (HCBS) long-term services and supports (LTSS) and how they are financed. In particular, little is known about the number, proportion, and expenditures of people

receiving Medicaid HCBS services. An analysis of the 2002 Health and Retirement Study (HRS) found that older people with cognitive impairment and severe disabilities used about twice as much paid and unpaid home care services as people with severe disabilities without cognitive impairment (Johnson & Wiener, 2006).

• While nonpharmacological interventions have been shown to have some positive effects, they are not widely available in communities across the country (Gould, Wiener, Hughes, Shuman, & Lyda-McDonald, 2017; National Academies of Sciences, Engineering and Medicine, 2016; Gitlin, Marx, Stanley, & Hodgson, 2015; Maslow, 2012).

Quality of Care in Home-Based Settings

Although federal and state policy promotes HCBS over institutional care, almost no data are available about the quality of these services, especially as they are provided to PWD and their caregivers (National Quality Forum, 2016). To the extent that local or state quality data are available, they do not specifically measure how care is provided to PWD (See, for example, the National Association of States United for Aging and Disabilities' [2017] National Core Indicators–Aging and Disabilities (NCI-AD) TM.).

Hospitalizations and Emergency Department Use in Home-Based Settings

Policy initiatives to reduce costs and improve quality are increasingly focused on reducing hospitalizations and ED use. Research shows that PWD living in the community have higher use of these services than people living in the community without dementia, when controlling for other medical conditions. This suggests inadequacies with the existing primary care and outpatient specialty system.

- Analysis of 2000–2008 data from the HRS linked with Medicare claims showed community-dwelling PWD had higher rates of hospitalizations, potentially avoidable hospitalizations, and ED use than similar community-dwelling individuals without AD and other dementias, but these rates were lower for community-dwelling PWD than for PWD in nursing facilities (Feng, Coots, Kaganova, & Wiener, 2014). Using the same dataset, another study found similar results examining Medicare expenditures (Daras, Feng, Wiener, & Kaganova, 2017).
- In a study of individuals who lived alone, Ennis and colleagues (2014) compared hospitalization rates between those with and without dementia; when controlling for age, sex, comorbidity burden, physical function, and length of follow-up, dementia status had no effect on the association between living alone and hospitalizations.

Costs in Home-Based Settings

While there have been estimates of the cost of health care and LTSS for PWD and their caregivers, few studies have estimated the health care and LTSS costs for people living in the community.

- Unpaid caregivers such as family members provide an average of 21.9 hours of care per caregiver per week. At \$12.65 per hour, the value of this care was estimated at \$230.1 billion in the United States for 2016 (Alzheimer's Association, 2017).
- In 2014, 25 percent of PWD use Medicare home health care each year, compared to 10 percent of adults older than age 65 without ADRD (Alzheimer's Association, 2017). In 2011, the average spending per PWD for home health was \$2,461 per year for PWD, compared to \$357 for adults without dementia.
- In a study linking the HRS to Medicare claims data from 2000–2008, fee-for-service Medicare beneficiaries with dementia living in the community had substantially higher Medicare costs for hospitalization and ED use and potentially preventable hospitalizations and ED use than people without dementia with similar medical conditions (Daras et al., 2017).

End-of-Life Care in Home-Based Settings

Alzheimer's disease is a terminal illness. The Medicare hospice benefit plays an increasing role for PWD and their caregivers, as well as for the rest of the population. Especially because of the loss of judgment and difficulty with communication that is characteristic of end-stage dementia, it is often difficult to provide care consistent with the wishes of PWD.

- In a large, electronic health record-based retrospective cohort study of approximately 85,000 hospice admissions from 2008 to 2012, Dougherty and colleagues (2015) compared people receiving hospice care at home to residents of assisted-living facilities receiving hospice and found the home hospice population was significantly less likely than the assisted-living population to have a diagnosis of dementia (4.7 percent vs. 23.5 percent in assisted living) (Dougherty et al., 2015). This lower proportion may reflect the high proportion of PWD in RCSs and nursing homes compared to people living in the community.
- In 2014, dementia was the top noncancer primary diagnosis for patients admitted to hospice (14.8 percent of admitted hospice patients had a primary diagnosis of dementia) (National Hospice and Palliative Care Organization [NHPCO], 2015). The percentage of hospice patients (unrestricted to PWD) who were at home in their private residences at the time of death was higher than other locations (i.e., nursing home, residential facility, hospice inpatient facility, and acute care hospitals).

Congregate Community-Based Living Arrangements for PWD

Congregate community-based living arrangements for people with ADRD include various types of RCSs, including assisted-living residences; board and care homes; congregate care; enriched housing programs; homes for the aged; personal care homes; and shared housing establishments that are licensed, registered, listed, certified, or otherwise regulated by a state (Khatutsky et al., 2016). Several studies have estimated the proportion of RCS residents who have dementia to be about 40 percent, but some RCSs only admit PWD (Harris-Kojetin et al., 2016; Khatutsky et al., 2016; Zimmerman, Sloane, & Reed, 2014).

Some RCSs exclusively serve PWD, and some RCSs have special care units (SCUs) for PWD. These SCUs are supposed to provide care by staff trained in dementia care and sometimes are architecturally designed to address the needs of PWD. In 2010, among RCC residents with cognitive impairment or dementia, more than one-third (35 percent) lived in RCSs with dementia SCUs, but just 14 percent lived in SCUs, while 21 percent lived in a general care unit (Khatutsky et al., 2016). In addition, approximately 7 percent of all RCC residents with cognitive impairment or dementia lived in RCSs that exclusively served adults with dementia.

Financing in RCSs

Most people pay out of pocket for RCS care; almost half of RCSs participate in Medicaid, but overall about 15.1 percent of residents use Medicaid to pay for their care (Harris-Kojetin et al., 2016). Fewer PWD use Medicaid and are less likely to reside in facilities that participate in Medicaid. In 2010, analyses using the National Survey of Residential Care Facilities (NSRCF) found that about a third of Medicaid beneficiaries in RCSs had Alzheimer's disease or other dementias, and about two-fifths of non-Medicaid residents had these conditions.

Quality in RCSs

Little is known about the quality of care provided in RCSs, especially for PWD. Facilities are regulated at the state level and there are wide variations in regulatory requirements (Carder, O'Keeffe, & O'Keeffe, 2015). In addition, there are fewer inspections and almost no public reporting for RCSs (Harrington, Wiener, Ross, & Musumeci, in press).

- A systematic review of the literature from 2005 to 2012 on effective characteristics of residential long-term care settings for people with ADRD found few high-quality studies on this issue but also found that outcomes do not differ between RCSs and nursing homes for PWD, except when medical care is indicated (Zimmerman et al., 2013).
- Thus, most states rely on general RCS regulations to cover dementia care policies and practices rather than having dementia-specific regulations. In an analysis of 2015 state regulatory standing, 16 states license or certify SCUs within RCSs (Carder, 2017). All states had at least one dementia care requirement, though only 4 states had requirements in five important domains. Most states addressed administrator training, consumer disclosure, and physical environment; 17 states addressed staffing types and levels; and 14 addressed pre-admission assessment for dementia.

Hospitalizations and ED Use in RCSs

Few studies have examined hospitalizations and ED use in RCSs, in part because of the difficulty of accurately identifying people living in those settings using Medicare and Medicaid claims data.

• Using data from the 2010 NSRCF, one study found that severe cognitive impairment was a marginally significant negative predictor of any hospitalization or any ED use (p<0.10) in RCSs. Similarly, severe cognitive impairment was also a marginally significant negative predictor (p<0.10) of the number of ED visits among residents who had any ED visit (Wiener, Feng, Coots, & Johnson, 2014). This study also found that the primary impact of severe cognitive impairment on hospital and ED use was through PWD residing in dementia SCUs or in RCCs that exclusively served PWD.

Costs in RCSs

PWD account for most RCS charges to residents and, on average, pay substantially more than people without dementia.

- The estimated total annual charges for PWD in RCSs in 2010 totaled \$17 billion, approximately 61 percent of total industry charges. (Khatutsky et al., 2016).
- PWDs in RCSs are charged substantially more for their care than people without dementia. In 2010, The average monthly RCS charge per resident in 2010 was \$3,131, whereas in RCSs that exclusively served PWD, the average monthly charge was \$4,156; in RCSs with a dementia SCU, the average monthly charge was \$3,820 (Karon et al., 2016).

End-of-Life Care in RCSs

End-of-life care for PWD in RCSs has been changing over time, with increased use of Medicare hospice services.

- Although reliably identifying residential care is difficult, the percentage of people receiving hospice care who lived in RCSs was 8.7 percent in 2014 (NHPCO, 2015).
- Based on after-death interviews with staff who had cared for PWD in RCSs or nursing homes and family caregivers of PWD, Sloane and colleagues (2008) found end-of-life care for PWD in RCSs was similar in quality to that of care for persons without dementia in RCSs, and end-of-life care for PWD in RCSs was similar to that provided in nursing homes for PWD. However, PWD dying in RCSs tended to have more skin ulcers and poorer hygiene care than persons without dementia in RCSs. PWD in RCSs also tended to be restrained less often and to have family more satisfied with physician communication than did PWD in nursing homes, but emergency services were called more often on the day of death than for PWD in nursing homes.

Nursing Homes

Most nursing home residents have AD and other dementias and have severe or moderate cognitive impairment. In 2014, according to the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS, 2015):

- 36.6 percent of nursing home residents had severe cognitive impairment
- 24.8 percent of residents had moderate cognitive impairment
- 38.7 percent of residents had mild or no cognitive impairment

This distribution by severity was similar across nursing homes by type of ownership (for profit, nonprofit, and government) and by size (number of beds), but the reported distribution of nursing home residents with cognitive impairment differed across states. These differences may reflect variations in reporting practices, but they may also reflect the availability of RCS and other HCBS.

Special Care Units in Nursing Homes

In 2014, more than one-seventh of nursing homes (14.8 percent) had a dementia SCU on a specific unit, wing, or floor, and a few (0.4 percent) exclusively served people with ADRD (Harris-Kojetin et al., 2016). Findings have been mixed regarding the impact of nursing home–based dementia SCU on quality.

- Compared to non-SCU residents, one study in the Boston area found that SCU residents were more likely to receive treatment for dyspnea, had fewer hospitalizations, were less likely to be tube fed, and were more likely to have a do-not-hospitalize order, but non-SCU residents were more likely to be treated for pain, had fewer pressure ulcers, and had less frequent use of antipsychotic drugs (Cadigan, Grabowski, Givens, & Mitchell, 2012).
- Analyses of data on nearly all nursing homes (96 percent) in the nation showed that the introduction of dementia SCUs had no influence on key clinical outcomes, including the prevalence of physical restraints, feeding tubes, and psychotropic medications (Gruneir, Lapane, Miller, & Mor, 2008).
- In a sequential cohort study of PWD in 35 dementia SCUs and 9 nursing homes, SCU residents were younger and less functionally impaired than those in nursing homes and caused more behavioral disturbances, but they were less likely to be hospitalized or physically restrained and showed a higher rate of withdrawal from antipsychotics; however, no differences were found in mortality or falls (Nobili et al., 2008).
- Studies conducted in the 1990s and 2000s found several quality indicators were positively associated with SCU residence, including higher quality of life (Reimer et al., 2004), less frequent tube feeding (Lamberg, Person, Kiely, & Mitchell, 2005), better continence care, and fewer behavioral disturbances (Bellelli et al., 1998). On the other hand, a large study of SCUs in 1990s found no positive impacts of SCUs on reducing physically aggressive behaviors within 6 months of placement (Leon & Ory, 1999).

Quality of Care in Nursing Homes

Although nursing home quality has been a subject of voluminous studies, few projects have investigated the quality of care in nursing homes for PWD.

- While dementia is most commonly associated with a decline in memory, it can also cause changes in mood or personality, loss of communication, and, at times, agitation or aggression. To manage these behaviors, antipsychotic drugs are sometimes prescribed, which is a major concern because of the potential health risks, and many believe that prescribing rates for these drugs, particularly for nursing home residents with dementia, have been too high. According to the General Accountability Office (2015), approximately a third of older adult Medicare Part D enrollees with dementia who resided in a nursing home were prescribed antipsychotic drugs in 2012. CMS has launched initiatives to reduce use in nursing homes.
- Nationally, nursing home performance on measures of care quality differ by resident cognitive status (CMS, 2015; Konetzka, Brauner, Perraillon, & Werner, 2015). On many but not all measures, people with severe cognitive impairment did worse than people with moderate or mild cognitive impairment. Nationally, in 2014, of nursing home residents with severe cognitive impairment, 4.9 percent experienced pressure ulcers, 2.1 percent experienced restraint use, 52.8 percent had incontinence, 9.2 percent had feeding tubes, 6.1 percent had unintended weight loss, and 25.3 percent were using antipsychotics (CMS, 2015).
- Nationally, from 2000 to 2014, the proportion of nursing home residents with advanced dementia and eating dependency who received feeding tubes decreased by approximately 50 percent (Mitchell, Mor, Gozalo, Servadio, & Teno, 2016).
- After Nursing Home Compare public reporting was initiated, outcomes for nursing home residents with severe dementia did not consistently improve or worsen (Konetzka et al., 2015). The study found no evidence that individuals with severe dementia are being avoided by nursing homes, despite their potential negative impact on quality scores.

Hospitalizations and ED Use among Nursing Home Residents

Rates of hospitalization and ED use among nursing home residents are high, but among PWD in nursing homes, the rates do not appear to differ substantially from those of people without dementia. Among residents with dementia, those with do-not-hospitalize orders appear to have lower hospital use than those without dementia. Comparing nursing home residents who had dementia with those who did not, Feng and colleagues (2014) found only small (not statistically significant) differences in hospitalizations (45.8 percent vs. 41.9 percent, respectively) and ED use (55.3 percent vs. 52.7 percent, respectively). Comparing nursing home residents who had dementia with those who did not, the study found only small differences in the rates of potentially avoidable hospitalizations (42.8 percent vs. 41.6 percent, respectively).

Costs

Nursing home care is expensive, creating a large financial burden on PWD and their caregivers. In 2017, the national median charge for a semiprivate room was \$85,776 per year (Genworth Financial, 2017).

- Hurd and colleagues (2013) distinguished costs for nursing home care between people with and without ADRD and found the additional yearly per person cost attributable to dementia for nursing home care was \$13,876 in 2010, after adjusting for demographic characteristics and coexisting conditions.
- Among Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries, the presence of ADRD nearly quadruples the likelihood of expensive Medicare skilled nursing facility (SNF) stays. The average annual per person Medicare payment for SNF care is about 3 times greater when ADRD is present for the most common coexisting conditions, including coronary artery disease, diabetes, congestive heart failure, chronic kidney disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, stroke, and cancer (Alzheimer's Association, 2017).

End-of-Life Care

Nursing homes are a prominent location of end-of-life care, where hospice care can support the dying resident, but quality of end-of-life differs for PWD within and across nursing homes.

- The proportion of nursing home decedents with advanced dementia who used hospice nearly tripled from 1999 to 2006 when it reached approximately 40 percent (Miller, Lima, & Mitchell, 2010).
- Among people with advanced dementia who died while residents of nursing homes in 2006, 40 percent had Medicare SNF care in the last 90 days of life, and outcomes differed between those with and without Medicare SNF care: individuals with Medicare SNF care used hospice less frequently (30 percent with Medicare SNF used hospice vs. 46 percent without SNF), more frequently had short (< 7 days) hospice stays (40 percent with Medicare SNF had short stays vs. 19 percent without SNF), and more frequently died in hospitals (14 percent with Medicare SNF died in hospitals vs. 9 percent without SNF) (Miller, Lima, Looze, & Mitchell, 2012).
- Among fee-for-service Medicare beneficiaries, researchers compared hospitalizations and ED use among nursing home decedents (i.e., people who died while nursing home residents) with and without dementia. Results showed no statistically significant difference in hospital or ED use between those who had dementia and those who did not. Comparing nursing home decedents who had dementia with those who did not, the study found only small differences in hospitalizations (65 percent vs. 74 percent, respectively) and ED use (69 percent vs. 75 percent) (Feng, Coots, Kaganova, & Wiener, 2014).

Other Living Arrangements

Veteran-Centered Settings

In 2014, an estimated 262,899 people diagnosed with ADRD were treated by the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), with a portion of these living in veteran-centered settings (Karlin et al., 2016). Veteran-centered living arrangements that include supports for PWD include VA Community Living Centers (CLCs), Medical Foster Homes, and State Veteran Homes.

- In 2016, a total of 41,507 Veterans received care across 135 CLCs nationally, with active care integrated psychologists (VA, 2017). VA CLCs provide nursing-facility care, and some provide dementia care and other services, such as mental health rehabilitation, respite services, and palliative or hospice care (VA HealthCare, 2017a).
- State governments also manage facilities for aged or disabled veterans. In 2003, there were 114 state-run facilities serving 17,000 veterans (Department of Veterans Affairs, 2005). These facilities are generally known as State Veteran Homes and must be certified by the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA HealthCare, 2017b).
- VA also approves private homes where continuous care is provided for a few individuals, known as Medical Foster Homes. These homes are not administered by the VA, but some oversight for quality and caregiver training is provided. These homes may support veterans and nonveterans with a wide range of abilities and conditions (VA HealthCare, 2017c).

Unlicensed Care Homes

Unlicensed care homes are RCSs that are not licensed by the states where they are located—some are legally unlicensed and operate within guidelines provided by state agencies, but many are illegally unlicensed, are subject to little oversight, and create concerns for the safety of residents. Overall, they house a wide range of vulnerable people, including older adults, and some are criminal enterprises exploiting their vulnerable residents (Greene, Lepore, Lux, Porter, & Vreeland, 2015). Although it is difficult to estimate the population of PWD in unlicensed care homes, subject matter experts consistently report that many older adults reside in these homes (Greene et al., 2015), and reports indicate that at least some residents have ADRD (Williams, 2017).

Prisons

Although there is no national study estimating the prevalence of dementia among prisoners, the population of older adults in the correctional system is rising (Maschi, Kwak, Ko, & Morrissey, 2012). Given the prison environment and risk factors related to mental health, older adults aging within the prison system may be more likely to develop AD and other dementias. Some studies indicate that 44 percent of inmates may experience dementia in some

correctional settings, although there is likely a wide range of prevalence. Some groups, such as the Project for Older Prisoners, have campaigned for more comprehensive care for older adults in prison, but few dementia supports are currently available.

Homelessness

Many older adults are homeless and live in a variety of transient locations. According to a 2017 study of 350 homeless older adults in Oakland, California, 25.8 percent of the sample showed signs of cognitive impairment (Brown et al., 2017).

Conclusion

People with disabilities live in a variety of settings, including in their own homes, RCSs, nursing homes, veteran-centered settings, and other settings such as unlicensed care homes and prisons. Across all these settings, the majority of PWD live in their own homes, either alone or with other individuals that may serve as caregivers. A significant portion of PWD also live in nursing homes or RCSs and they make up about half of those residents. Given the data available, it is difficult to estimate the numbers of PWD living in veteran-centered settings and other settings.

PWD may have exceptionally variable experiences based on their living arrangements. Many of the settings covered in this paper, including nursing homes, RCSs, and veteran-centered settings, have created specialized settings to support PWD. These settings are designed to provide comprehensive training to their staff on caring for individuals with ADRD and increase the quality of care; however, their effectiveness, especially in RCSs, is not well established. Those caring for PWD living at home may experience increased difficulty obtaining the services and caregiving training needed, which may be reflected in the unmet needs of PWD. Studies have shown that PWD living at home experience more hospitalizations than those living at home without dementia, which suggests that the current system of primary care may not adequately meet the people with cognitive impairment.

In general, PWD pay more on average for health care and long-term care than those without dementia across settings. They have higher utilization rates for services such as home health care (Alzheimer's Association, 2017), which leads to higher spending on average. Dementia SCUs are significantly more expensive than nonspecialized RCSs and nursing home care. These increased costs may be difficult for PWD and their families to manage.

This brief review of the literature suggests several areas in which very little is known and where additional research could further our understanding. These include the following:

• *The use of paid home care services by PWD and how they compare with impaired people without cognitive impairment.* Little is known about the proportion of PWD living in the community who use paid services, how much is used, how they are

financed, and what the financial burden is, especially compared to other people with disabilities.

- *The role of Medicaid in financing LTSS for PWD, by service type.* Medicaid is the primary source of financing for LTSS, but little is known about the role of Medicaid, specifically for people with cognitive impairment.
- *The quality of care of home care and RCS, specifically for PWD.* Little is known overall about the quality of these services, and almost nothing is known about the services that people with cognitive impairment receive.
- The impact of various new delivery system innovations, such as patient-centered medical homes and accountable care organizations, on PWD. Although CMS has sponsored large demonstrations of these innovations, evaluations have not singled out PWD for special attention.
- The accuracy of Medicare and Medicaid claims data in identifying people with dementia. The underreporting of AD diagnoses is a barrier to using Medicare and Medicaid claims data to conduct research on PWD. Studies are needed to improve on existing algorithms commonly used to identify PWD. In addition, federal government agencies should provide more data that link surveys, such as the HRS, which have more detailed measures of cognitive impairment, with Medicare and Medicaid enrollment and claims data.

References

- Alzheimer's Association. (2017). 2017 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. https://www.alz.org/documents_custom/2017-facts-and-figures.pdf
- Alzheimer's Association. (2014). The 2014 Alzheimer's Association women and Alzheimer's poll, cited in 2014 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. Chicago, IL. Retrieved from. http://alz.org/downloads/Facts_Figures_2014.pdf.
- Alzheimer's Association. (2012). 2012 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 8(2), 131–168.
- Bellelli, G., Frisoni, G. B., Bianchetti, A., Boffelli, S., Guerrini, G. B., Scotuzzi, A., ... & Trabucchi, M. (1998). Special care units for demented patients: A multicenter study. *Gerontologist*, 38(4), 456–462.
- Black, B. S., Johnston, D., Rabins, P. V., Morrison, A., Lyketsos, C., & Samus, Q. M. (2013). Unmet needs of community-residing persons with dementia and their informal caregivers: Findings from the Maximizing Independence at Home study. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 61(12), 2087–2095.
- Brown, R. T., Hemati, K., Riley, E. D., Lee, C. T., Ponath, C., Tieu, L., ... & Kushel, M. B. (2017). Geriatric conditions in a population-based sample of older homeless adults. *The Gerontologist*, 57(4), 757. doi:10.1093/geront/gnw011
- Cadigan, R. O., Grabowski, D. C., Givens, J. L., & Mitchell, S. L. (2012). The quality of advanced dementia care in the nursing home: The role of special care units. *Medical Care*, *50*(10), 856.
- Carder, P. (2017). State regulatory approaches for dementia care in residential care and assisted living. *Gerontologist*, 57(4), 776–786. doi:10.1093/geront/gnw197
- Carder, P., O'Keeffe, J. & O'Keeffe, C. (2015). Compendium of residential care and assisted living regulations and policy: 2015 edition. Research Triangle Park, NC: RTI International. https://aspe.hhs.gov/system/files/pdf/110391/15alcom.pdf.
- Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS). (2015). *Nursing home data compendium* 2015 edition. https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Provider-Enrollment-and-Certification/CertificationandComplianc/Downloads/nursinghomedatacompendium_508-2015.pdf
- Daras, L. C., Feng, Z., Wiener, J. M., & Kaganova, I. (2017). Medicare expenditures associated with hospital and emergency department use among beneficiaries with dementia. *Inquiry*, 54, 46958017696757.
- Dougherty, M., Harris, P. S., Teno, J., Corcoran, A. M., Douglas, C., Nelson, J., ... & Casarett, D. J. (2015). Hospice care in assisted living facilities versus at home: Results of a multisite cohort study. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 63(6), 1153–1157.

- Ennis, S. K., Larson, E. B., Grothaus, L., Helfrich, C. D., Balch, S., & Phelan, E. A. (2014). Association of living alone and hospitalization among community-dwelling elders with and without dementia. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 29(11), 1451–1459.
- Family Caregiver Alliance. (2016). *Depression and caregiving*. San Francisco, CA. Retrieved from <u>https://www.caregiver.org/depression-and-caregiving</u>.
- Family Caregiver Alliance (2006). Caregiver assessment: Principles, guidelines and strategies for change. Report from a National Consensus Development Conference (Vol. I). San Francisco, CA. Retrieved from https://www.caregiver.org/national-consensus-reportcaregiver-assessment-volumes-1-2.
- Feng, Z., Coots, L. A., Kaganova, Y., & Wiener, J. M. (2014). Hospital and ED use among Medicare beneficiaries with dementia varies by setting and proximity to death. *Health Affairs*, 33(4), 683–690.
- Genworth Financial, Inc. (2017). *Genworth cost of care survey*. Richmond, VA: Genworth Financial, Inc.
- Gitlin, L. N., Marx, K., Stanley, I. H., & Hodgson, N. (2015). Translating evidence-based dementia caregiving interventions into practice: State-of-the-science and next steps. *The Gerontologist*, 55(2), 210–226. doi:10.1093/geront/gnu123
- Gitlin, L. N., Hodgson, N., Piersol, C. V., Hess, E., & Hauck, W. W. (2014). Correlates of quality of life for individuals with dementia living at home: The role of home environment, caregiver, and patient-related characteristics. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 22(6), 587–597.
- Gould, E., Wiener, J., Hughes, S., Shuman, S., & Lyda-McDonald. (2017). Translating evidencebased dementia interventions to the community: Experience of the Administration on Aging's ADSSP grantees. Washington, DC: RTI International. https://nadrc.acl.gov/sites/default/files/uploads/docs/Translation_of_EB_Interventions_fi nal_508.pdf
- Gould, E., Maslow, K., Lepore, M., Bercaw, L., Leopold, J., Lyda-McDonald, B., ... & Wiener, J. M. (2015). *Identifying and meeting the needs of individuals with dementia who live alone*. Report to the Administration for Community Living. Washington, DC: RTI International. https://nadrc.acl.gov/sites/default/files/uploads/docs/PWD_Living_Alone%202015.pdf
- Greene, A. M., Lepore, M. J., Lux, L. J., Porter, K. A., & Vreeland, E. E. (2015, September). *Understanding unlicensed care homes: Final report.* Prepared for Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation.

https://aspe.hhs.gov/system/files/pdf/200961/Unlicensed.pdf

Gruneir, A., Lapane, K. L., Miller, S. C., & Mor, V. (2008). Does the presence of a dementia special care unit improve nursing home quality? *Journal of Aging and Health*, 20(7), 837–854.

- Harrington, C., Wiener, J. M., Ross, L.& Musumeci, M. B. (in press). *Key issues in long-term services and supports quality*. Washington, DC: Kaiser Family Foundation.
- Harris-Kojetin, L., Sengupta, M., Park-Lee, E., Valverde, R., Caffrey, C., Rome, V., & Lendon, J. (2016). Long-term care providers and services users in the United States: Data from the National Study of Long-Term Care Providers, 2013–2014. National Center for Health Statistics. *Vital Health Statistics*, 3(38).
- Hurd, M. D., Martorell, P., Delavande, A., Mullen, K. J., & Langa, K. M. (2013). Monetary costs of dementia in the United States. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *368*(14), 1326–1334.
- Johnson, R. & Wiener, J. M. (2006). A profile of frail older Americans and their caregivers. Washington, DC: The Urban Institute. https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/42946/311284-A-Profile-of-Frail-Older-Americans-and-Their-Caregivers.PDF
- Karlin, B. E., Teri, L., McGee, J. S., Sutherland, E. S., Asghar-Ali, A., Crocker, S. M., Smith, T. L., Curyto, K., Drexler, M., & Karel, M. J. (2016). STAR-VA Intervention for Managing Challenging Behaviors in VA Community Living Center Residents with Dementia: Manual for STAR-VA Behavioral Coordinators and Nurse Champions. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs.
- Karon, S. L., Wiener, J. M., Khatutsky, G., Greene, A. M., & Johnson, R. E. (2016). Factors affecting residential care facility charges. *Journal of Housing for the Elderly*, 30(4), 380– 395.
- Karon, S., Gould, E., Hughes, S., Piersol, C., Maier, J., Leopold, J. & Wiener, J. (2015). *Training family caregivers on skills for behavioral symptoms*. Washington, DC: RTI International. https://nadrc.acl.gov/sites/default/files/uploads/docs/Behavioral_Training_Paper_FINAL %20Oct%202015.pdf.
- Kasper J., Freedman, V., & Spillman, B. (2014). Disability and care needs of Older Americans by dementia status: An analysis of the 2011 National Health and Aging Trends Study. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Retrieved from <u>https://aspe.hhs.gov/report/disability-and-care-needs-older-americans-analysis-2011-national-health-and-aging-trends-study</u>.
- Khatutsky, G., Ormond, C., Wiener, J. M., Greene, A. M., Johnson, R., Jessup, E. A., ... & Harris-Kojetin, L. (2016). *Residential care communities and their residents in 2010: A national portrait.* DHHS Publication No. 2016-1041. Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics.
- Konetzka, R. T., Brauner, D. J., Perraillon, M. C., & Werner, R. M. (2015). The role of severe dementia in nursing home report cards. *Medical Care Research and Review*, 72(5), 562– 579.

- Lamberg, J. L., Person, C. J., Kiely, D. K., & Mitchell, S. L. (2005). Decisions to hospitalize nursing home residents dying with advanced dementia. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 53(8), 1396–1401.
- Leon, J. & Ory, M.G. (1999). Effectiveness of Special Care Unit (SCU) placements in reducing physically aggressive behaviors in recently admitted dementia nursing home residents. *American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease & Other Dementias*, 14(5): 270–277.
- Lyketsos, C., Lopez, O., Jones, B., Fitzpatrick, A., Breitner, J., & DeKosky, S. (2002). Prevalence of neuropsychiatric symptoms in dementia and mild cognitive impairment. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 288(12), 1475
- Maschi, T., Kwak, J., Ko, E., & Morrissey, M. B. (2012). Forget me not: Dementia in prison. *The Gerontologist*, 52(4), 441–451.
- Maslow, K. (2012). Translating innovation to impact: Evidence-based interventions to support people with Alzheimer's disease and their caregivers at home and in the community. Administration on Aging and Alliance for Aging Research. https://www.agingresearch.org/publications/view/18#.WdrJvWffPmQ
- Mausbach, B., Aschbacher, K., Patterson, T., Ancoli-Israel, S., von Känel, R., Mills, P., et al. (2006). Avoidant coping partially mediates the relationship between patient problem behaviors and depressive symptoms in spousal Alzheimer caregivers. *American Journal* of Geriatric Psychiatry, 14(4), 299–306.
- Miller, S. C., Lima, J. C., Looze, J., & Mitchell, S. L. (2012). Dying in US nursing homes with advanced dementia: How does health care use differ for residents with, versus without, end-of-life Medicare skilled nursing facility care? *Journal of Palliative Medicine*, *15*(1), 43–50.
- Miller S. C., Lima, J. C, & Mitchell, S. L. (2010). Hospice care for persons with dementia: The growth of access in US nursing homes. *American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease and Other Dementias*, 25(8):666–673.
- Mitchell, S. L., Mor, V., Gozalo, P. L., Servadio, J. L., & Teno, J. M. (2016). Tube feeding in US nursing home residents with advanced dementia, 2000–2014. *JAMA*, *316*(7), 769–770.
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2016). *Families caring for an aging America*. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. doi:10.17226/23606.
- National Alliance for Caregiving and AARP. (2015). *Caregiving in the U.S.* Washington, DC. Retrieved from <u>http://www.caregiving.org/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2015/05/2015_CaregivingintheUS_Final-Report-June-4_WEB.pdf.</u>
- National Association of States United for Aging and Disabilities. (2017). *National Core Indicators – aging and disabilities (NCI-AD)*TM. Available at: https://nci-ad.org/

- National Hospice and Palliative Care Organization (NHPCO). (2015). *NHPCO's facts and figures: Hospice care in America*. Alexandria, VA.
- National Quality Forum. (2016). *Quality in home and community-based services to support community living: Addressing gaps in performance measurement*. Washington, DC. http://www.qualityforum.org/Publications/2016/09/Quality_in_Home_and_Community-Based_Services_to_Support_Community_Living__Addressing_Gaps_in_Performance_ Measurement.aspx
- Nobili, A., Piana, I., Balossi, L., Pasina, L., Matucci, M., Tarantola, M., ... & Tettamanti, M. (2008). Alzheimer special care units compared with traditional nursing home for dementia care: Are there differences at admission and in clinical outcomes? *Alzheimer Disease & Associated Disorders*, 22(4), 352–361.
- Okura, T., Plassman, B. L., Steffens, D. C., Llewellyn, D. J., Potter, G. G., & Lange, K. M. (2011). Neuropsychiatric symptoms and the risk of institutionalization and death: The Aging, Demographics, and Memory Study. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 59(3), 473–481.
- Pinquart, M. & Sorensen, S. (2003). Differences between caregivers and noncaregivers in psychological health and physical health: a meta-analysis. *Psychology and Aging*, 18(2):250-67.
- Reimer, M. A., Slaughter, S., Donaldson, C., Currie, G., & Eliasziw, M. (2004). Special care facility compared with traditional environments for dementia care: a longitudinal study of quality of life. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 52(7), 1085–1092.
- Roth, D. L., Fredman, L., & Haley, W. E. (2015). Informal caregiving and its impact on health: A reappraisal from population-based studies. *Gerontologist Special Issue*, 1-11.
- Schulz, F., & Martire, L. (2004). Family caregiving of persons with dementia: Prevalence, health effects, and support strategies. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 12(3), 240– 249.
- Philip D. Sloane, Shery Zimmerman, Christianna S. Williams, PhD,1 and Laura C. Hanson. (2008). Dying With dementia in long-term care. *Gerontologist*, 48(6), 741–751.
- Spector, W.D. & Kemper, P. (1994). Disability and cognitive impairment criteria: targeting those who need the most home care. *Gerontologist*, *34*(5): 640-651.
- U.S. General Accountability Office. (2015). Antipsychotic drug use: HHS has initiatives to reduce use among older adults in nursing homes, but should expand efforts to other settings. Washington, DC. http://www.gao.gov/assets/670/668221.pdf.
- U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs. (2005). VA long-term care fact sheet. http://www.alz.org/alzwa/documents/VA_LTC.pdf

VA (2017). 2018 Congressional submission.

https://www.va.gov/budget/docs/summary/fy2018VAbudgetVolumeIImedicalProgramsAndInformationTechnology.pdf

- VA HealthCare. (2017a). *Community living centers*. Department of Veterans Affairs. https://www.va.gov/geriatrics/docs/Community_Living_Center.pdf
- VA HealthCare. (2017b). *Geriatrics and extended care: State veterans homes*. Department of Veterans Affairs. https://www.va.gov/geriatrics/guide/longtermcare/state veterans homes.asp
- VA HealthCare. (2017c). Geriatrics and extended care: Medical foster home care and elder veterans. Department of Veterans Affairs. https://www.va.gov/geriatrics/guide/longtermcare/medical_foster_homes.asp
- Wiener, J. M., Feng, Z., Coots, L. A., & Johnson, R. (2014). What is the effect of dementia on hospitalization and emergency department use in residential care facilities? Washington, DC: Department of Health and Human Services, Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation, Office of Disability, Aging and Long-Term Care Policy. https://aspe.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/pdf/138371/RCFdementia.pdf
- Williams, S. (2017). *New task force formed to help end local personal care home neglect.* http://wjbf.com/2017/08/25/new-task-force-formed-to-help-end-local-personal-carehome-neglect/
- Wolff, J. L., Spillman, B. C., Freedman, V. A., & Kasper, J. D. (2016). A national profile of family and unpaid caregivers who assist older adults with health care activities. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, 176(3), 372–379.
- Yuhas, N., McGowan, B., Fontaine, T., Czech, J., & Gambrell-Jones, J. (2006). Psychosocial interventions for disruptive symptoms of dementia. *Journal of Psychosocial Nursing*, 44, (11), 34–42.
- Zhu, C. W., Scarmeas, N., Ornstein, K., Albert, M., Brandt, J., Blacker, D., Sanoi, M., & Stern, Y. (2015). Health-care use and cost in dementia caregivers: Longitudinal results from the Predictors Caregiver Study. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 11(4), 444–454.
- Zimmerman, S., Anderson, W. L., Brode, S., Jonas, D., Lux, L., Beeber, A. S., ... & Sloane, P. D. (2013). Systematic review: Effective characteristics of nursing homes and other residential long-term care settings for people with dementia. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 61(8), 1399–1409.
- Zimmerman, S., Sloane, P. D., & Reed, D. (2014). Dementia prevalence and care in assisted living. *Health Affairs*, *33*(4), 658–666.